
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

AGENDA 

September 25, 2012 



CITY OF OAK HARBOR       AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION September 25, 2012 
REGULAR MEETING   7:30 P.M. 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
 
ROLL CALL: NEIL      JENSEN    FAKKEMA      
 

WASINGER       OLIVER   
    
   WALLIN    JOHNSON-PFIEFFER    
 
  
1. Approval of Minutes – August 28, 2012 – Page 3 

 
2. Public Comment – Planning Commission will accept public comment for items not 

otherwise on the agenda for the first 15 minutes of the Planning Commission meeting.  
 

3. FAIRWAY POINT PRD DIVISION 4 MODIFICATION TO CONSIDER ADU'S  – Public 
Hearing – Page 52 
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on a proposal to add accessory 
dwelling units to homes for up to six remaining lots to be developed within Division 4 of 
Fairway Point PRD.  The Planning Commission closed public testimony on the matter at 
the August 2012 meeting.  It is expected that the Planning Commission will deliberate 
and make a recommendation to the City Council.  

 
4. NIGHTCLUB ORDINANCE – Public Meeting – Page 60 

The Planning Commission will be presented with options on occupancy limit thresholds 
to consider in regulating nightclubs licenses in various zoning districts.  This is a 
continued discussion on regulating the size of nightclubs. 

 
5. SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM (SMP) UPDATE – Public Hearing – Page 66 

The City of Oak Harbor is required by the State of Washington to update its Shoreline 
Master Program (SMP). The Planning Commission will continue its discussion of the 
Draft SMP. Staff will present the Washington Department of Ecology’s requested 
changes to the document and concluding remarks to the Commission. Please note it is 
anticipated this will be the final Planning Commission consideration of this topic. It is 
expected that Commission will make a recommendation on the Draft SMP document 
and forward it to City Council for their consideration. Planning Commission will accept 
comments on the Draft SMP document in a public hearing. 

 
6. PERMIT EXTENSION FOR ADULT DAY CARE CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT – Public 

Hearing – Page 73 
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing to consider extending for two years 
a previously approved conditional use permit held by the Oak Harbor Senior Center to 
operate the Daybreak Adult Day Care out of a modular building at 917 E. Whidbey 
Avenue (Island County Parcel Number S7600-00-02604-0).  This is a final decision of 
the Planning Commission. 

 
7. 2012 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT DISCUSSION– Public  

Meeting – Page 79 
The Planning Commission will review the draft Capital Improvements Plan for 2012 – 
2018.  The Capital Improvements Plan is updated every year with the annual 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments.  The Capital Improvements Plan identifies the City’s 
capital needs for the next six years.  The Planning Commission will be updated on the 
changes to the plan. 

2



MINUTES 

 

August 28, 2012 

 

3



 

Planning Commission 
August 28, 2012 

Page 1 of 5 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
August 28, 2012 
 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Keith Fakkema, Gerry Oliver, Greg Wasinger and Jeff Wallin. 

Absent: Bruce Neil, Kristi Jensen and Jill Johnson-Pfeiffer.  
Staff Present:  Development Services Director, Steve Powers; Senior Planners, 
Ethan Spoo and Cac Kamak and Associate Planner, Melissa Sartorius.  
Guest Speaker:  David Pater, Department of Ecology. 

 
Vice Chairman Fakkema called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
MINUTES: MR. WALLIN MOVED, MR. OLIVER SECONDED, MR. WASINGER 

ABSTAINED, MOTION CARRIED TO APPROVE THE JULY 24 AND AUGUST 
14, 2012 MINUTES AS PRESENTED. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
No comments. 
 
FAIRWAY POINT PRD MODIFICATION TO CONSIDER ADU’S – Public Hearing 
Mr. Fakkema recused himself from the discussion of this item.  
 
Mr. Wasinger opened the public hearing. 
 
Ms. Sartorius reported that this item is a continuation from last month’s meeting.  Planning 
Commission’s discussion and questions at that meeting prompted staff to provided 
supplemental information regarding Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU’s) (PC Attachment 1).   The 
publication from the Municipal Research and Services Center of Washington discusses the 
benefits and regulatory issues and options of ADU’s.  Ms. Sartorius pointed out that the exhibit 
that was shown last month has been revised to show only Division 4 and the six ADU’s that are 
proposed in order to alleviate confusion that was experienced at the previous meeting.  Other 
changes from last month’s report to this month’s report include: 
 

 Page 23 points out Attachment 4 which is a copy of OHMC Chapter 19.42 so that the 
Commission and the public understand the criteria and standards that apply to an ADU 
on a permit-by-permit basis when an applicant applies for a permit on the administrative 
basis. 

 Page 27, the Public Notice section has been updated to reflect the publication for this 
month’s meeting.  The Citizen Comment section was revised to include written 
comments on the proposal as well as summarizing comments made at last month’s 
meeting.  One additional comment was provided by Mr. Porritt late last week and was 
provided to the Planning Commission (PC Attachment 2). 

 Page 28, the Conclusions section was revised to remind the Commission that should 
they decide to approve the modification they may add conditions of approval that 
mitigate or address concerns by limiting the number of ADU's to a number less than the 
six proposed by the applicant. In addition, City staff would recommend, and the applicant 
has indicated agreement with, a condition of approval whereby the ADU's shall be 
integrated into the primary unit as opposed to detached. 

4



 

Planning Commission 
August 28, 2012 

Page 2 of 5 

 The draft ordinance was updated to include the Planning Commission authority to 
impose conditions of approval and include a condition regarding the integration of ADU’s 
as part of the primary unit rather than detached units. 

 
Ms. Sartorius concluded by recommending that the Planning Commission conduct the public 
hearing, close the public hearing and make a recommendation to the City Council to approve 
the draft ordinance amending Ordinance 1583. 
 
Phil Collier (2118 Fairway Lane) voiced his concerns about overloading a road system that 
currently has no sidewalks or lighting (Fairway Lane) and changing the single-family plan to 
what he considers duplexes that will become rental units.  He urged the Planning Commission 
to vote no. 
 
Bruce Freeman (2746 SW Fairway Point Drive) said that he bought a home that he thought 
was in a single-family zone and that the homeowners don’t know that Phases 1-3 already allow 
ADU’s and Phase 4 currently doesn’t allow ADU’s.  He was concerned about the ADU 
becoming a rental unit and that the Home Owners Association (HOA) will have to enforce the 
rules through a civil action and the problem is that people don’t notify the HOA when they are 
moving.  He urged the Planning Commission to vote no. 
 
Rick Porritt (2130 Fairway Lane) noted his concern about conflicting, confusing and changing 
information, potential traffic congestion with vehicles from multiple ADU’s that could bring nearly 
30 additional cars.  He noted that a reference was made at the previous meeting about renting 
the ADU’s as an income producer and a marketing tool to help offset a mortgage.  He said that 
homeowners association should not be the regulatory board for rental units and that property 
values will be adversely affected.  
 
Rich Wais (2142 Fairway Lane) said he was the president of the HOA of 23 families on Fairway 
Lane and Links Way. Mr. Wise said that their major concern was the increased traffic on a 
county road that has no speed bumps and basically no law enforcement.  He believed that there 
was an advantage to getting onto Fairway Lane if you are going to the base instead of going 
through Fairway Point which would increase the traffic. He urged the Planning Commission to 
vote no. 
 
Jerry Grunwald (2145 Fairway Lane) said that if the Planning Commission approves the six 
units in Division 4 they are setting a dangerous precedent.  He asked the Planning Commission 
to think of the impacts on the community when allowing a sales pitch/gimmick to make the units 
more attractive to purchase by saying that you could get income on the side. He asked the 
Commission to how many single-family residents in their neighborhoods have rentals in them. 
He said this is something new and he didn’t like it. 
 
Kendall Gentry (of Landed Gentry) introduced himself as the proponent of the density 
modification to Division 4.  Mr. Gentry pointed out that the county residents that provided 
testimony tonight are not the constituents of the City Planning Commission.  Mr. Gentry also 
stated that it would be very circuitous for the potential homeowners to wind their way back 
through Fairway Lane and create traffic issues to Fairway Lane.  He thought that residents 
would exit the property through Fort Nugent/Swantown Road.  Mr. Gentry said that the issue is 
convoluted and is really a very succinct simple issue.  ADU’s are a property right that every 
single property owner enjoys.  The reason it is an issue in Fairway Point Division 4 is because 
on the face of the plat that was recorded that the density was 40 units even though the 
allowable density was more than that.  For Phases 1-3 the density posted on the face of the plat 

5



 

Planning Commission 
August 28, 2012 

Page 3 of 5 

was the maximum density allowed and the density that they were using (29 units) is short of the 
maximum density allowed.  Therefore, to add ADU’s in Phase 1-3 no additional review is 
required by the Planning Commission.  So the intent of this request is to raise the density of 
Phase 4 from 40 units to 46 units which is well below the maximum density allowed.  The idea 
that we are changing single-family neighborhoods into multiple-family or rezoning something by 
using a provision in the code that applies to every single-family home in the City is a 
mischaracterization of the idea of an ADU.  Mr. Gentry conveyed his own experience with an 
ADU that he rents in his home. Mr. Gentry concurred with staff’s recommendation that there be 
no detached ADU’s.  Mr. Gentry pointed out that ADU’s are market driven and that ADU’s will 
only be done for people that request ADU’s.  This is a way to help families accommodate their 
various needs and the positives outweigh the negatives. 
 
Mr. Oliver asked what the parking requirements are.  Ms. Sartorius said that one additional 
space is required in addition to what is required for the underlying zoning district.  In this 
instance the zoning is R-1 and requires two parking spaces so with the addition of an ADU there 
needs to be three parking spaces (includes spaces inside the garage and driveway).   
 
Mr. Oliver asked Mr. Gentry what the negatives of adding ADU’s are.  Mr. Gentry said that traffic 
issue neighbors have raised will be negligible because he won’t be building 29 ADU’s for people 
that don’t want it. He will only be building them for people that want it. 
 
Mr. Wallin asked if there was anything in the Code that would prevent someone from finishing 
out the basement as a bedroom and rent that room as versus an ADU.  Mr. Powers said that 
was correct and the distinction is the combination of sleeping, living and cooking facilities that 
establishes it as an ADU and there is nothing that prevents anyone from renting out a bedroom. 
 
Mr. Gentry said that he valued his relationship with the City and they wanted to be able to 
promote ADU’s as a permitable use and be above board.  He said he would be impressed if he 
got 3 customers for the ADU’s out of the six they were asking for. 
 
Mr. Oliver asked the president of the HOA how the ADU’s would affect HOA dues and the 
covenant that is in place now.  Will there be something spelled out that says the ADU is 
specifically for a mother-in-law unit or for rental purposes? 
 
Mike Oberholtzer (2770 SW Fairway Point Drive) said that he was on the Board for the HOA.  
He said they were wondering how they would enforce the rules and how they would control 
whether the homeowner rents the residence. 
 
Mr. Powers clarified that the request before the Planning Commission is to change the density 
to allow additional units in the form of ADU’s.  The City’s Code for ADU’s does not draw a 
distinction between whether the ADU is or is not for a rental situation.  This applies across other 
cities’ zoning codes as well.  Cities don’t regulate the form of ownership.  Cities regulate the 
land use. The City is prevented from placing a restriction that says it should be only for the care 
of individuals that are part of the family or that it should not allow for a rental. 
 
Mike Oberholtzer (2770 SW Fairway Point Drive) added that it is the Planning Commission’s 
objective to understand the impact on the homeowners that are living in that area.  If it is an 
enforcement issue that falls on the HOA it costs us money and they have to raise the dues to 
pursue legal action for the people that are not in compliance. 
 

6



 

Planning Commission 
August 28, 2012 

Page 4 of 5 

Ms. Sartorius noted that there will only be one meter serving the residence so if there are two 
units within one house the primary unit owner will be billed. 
 
Mr. Gentry noted that part of the ADU covenant that the property owner signs says that the 
property owner has to live in one of the units.  The covenant is also recorded. 
 
Phil Collier (2118 Fairway Lane) commented that it doesn’t make sense, it is just a gimmick 
and not enforceable and that the unit are going to be multi-family units not single-family units. 
 
Bruce Freeman (2746 SW Fairway Point Drive) commented on the parking issue saying that 
95% of the people use their garage as storage so they park vehicles on the street.  He also 
commented that he believe there would be multiple people living in the home, enforcement 
would be have to be through the HOA and he didn’t think that would work.  
 
Rick Porritt (2130 Fairway Lane) asked if Mr. Gentry would explain the marketing tool he talked 
about at the last meeting which involved using the additional rent as extra income to offset the 
mortgage payments.  
 
Mr. Powers explained that Mr. Porritt’s question to Mr. Gentry should be answered outside of 
this proceeding because whether or not the unit is for the care of family member or whether they 
are renting the unit is not a factor that the Planning Commission can consider as part of the 
recommendation to the City Council.  Mr. Powers further noted that one of the purposes of an 
ADU that the ADU Code specifically states is that ADU’s are intended to provide homeowners 
with a means of obtaining through tenants in either the accessory dwelling unit or the principal 
residence, rental income, companionship, or security. 
 
Mr. Gentry explained that all he is asking the Commission to do is recommend that a couple of 
digits on the preliminary plat be changed to say 46 instead of 40 and the ADU happen only if 
someone wants one and it allows him to advertise and sell the home legitimately. 
 
ACTION:  MR. OLIVER MOVED, MR. WALLIN SECONDED A MOTION TO CLOSE 

PUBLIC TESTIMONY.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Mr. Oliver raised concerns over parking.  Mr. Wallin noted that Mr. Gentry could still build homes 
to  accommodate larger families with a basement and there is nothing that would require him to 
provide extra parking.  Mr. Wasinger commented that the density is allowable and that is the 
issue that needs to be dealt with and it is not uncommon for homeowners to fill their garage up 
with belongings and park their cars in the street.   Mr. Oliver, Mr. Wasinger and Mr. Wallin 
thought that more of the Commissioners should be present before taking a vote.  Mr. Powers 
said that the Commission could choose to hold the agenda item over for another month and 
staff will work to ensure that more Commissioners are present recognizing that the Planning 
Commissioners are volunteers. 
 
MOTION:  MR. OLIVER MOVED TO MAKE A RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY 

COUNCIL TO DENY THE APPLICATION.  MOTION DIED DUE TO A LACK OF 
A SECOND. 

 
ACTION:  MR. WALLIN MOVED, MR. WASINGER SECONDED A MOTION TO 

CONTINUE THE FAIRWAY POINT PRD MODIFICATION TO CONSIDER 
ADU’S TO SEPTEMBER 25 TO ALLOW THE COMMISSION TO REVIEW THE 

7



 

Planning Commission 
August 28, 2012 

Page 5 of 5 

TESTEMONY AND MAKE A DECISION IN SEPTEMBER.  MOTION CARRIED 
BY A VOTE OF TWO IN FAVOR AND ONE OPPOSED. 

 
Mr. Fakkema returned for the remainder of the meeting. 
 
SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM (SMP) UPDATE – Public Meeting 
Mr. Spoo introduced David Pater, Shoreline Planner for the Department of Ecology (DOE) as 
the person that reviews the City’s submittal to the DOE.  Mr. Pater has already reviewed the 
City’s initial submittal.  Mr. Pater will also talk about shoreline stabilization impacts and will 
provide key guideline standards. 
 
Mr. Pater provided a brief overview on Shoreline Stabilization Impacts and SMP Guideline 
Standards (PC Attachment 3). 
 
Mr. Fakkema asked about the effectiveness of soft shore stabilization.  Mr. Pater said that 
information is building on how effective it may be and in his experience it is fairly site specific 
and you need to have a good engineer that understands coastal processes.  Mr. Spoo pointed 
out page 71 of the agenda packet that lists internet resources for more information on soft shore 
armoring. 
 
Mr. Spoo reviewed Chapters 5 -7 of the draft SMP and provided a PowerPoint presentation (PC 
Attachment 4).  Chapter 5 contains the shoreline modification provisions.  Chapter 6 is the 
permit review and administration chapter and Chapter 7 contains definitions.   
 
Mr. Spoo concluded his presentation and indicated that staff will present the changes resulting 
from DOE comments at the Planning Commission September regular business meeting.  The 
goal is to have a recommendation from the Planning Commission to the City Council in 
September. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Mr. Fakkema asked how long the SMP review process has been in work.  Mr. Spoo explained 
that the process began in 2010 with the review of the State’s scope of work and the hiring of the 
consultant to assist with drafting the SMP. 
 
Mr. Fakkema asked how often the SMP needs to be reviewed.  Mr. Pater said that it was every 
eight years, but this level of update isn’t expected every time.  Most communities are currently 
doing a major update this time because their SMP’s are outdated and once they are in the eight 
year cycle this level of update won’t be necessary. 
 
Mr. Powers commended Mr. Pater for his assistance with the SMP project.  
 
ADJOURN:  9:20 p.m. 

8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



Fairway Point PRD 

Modification to Consider  

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) 

 

Public Hearing 

 

52



September 25, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 1 of 3 

 Date: September 25, 2012  

 Subject: Fairway Point PRD Modification 

– To Consider ADU's within 

Division 4  

 

 

 

FROM: Melissa Sartorius, Associate Planner 

  

INTRODUCTION 

The report this month focuses on the public comments that were received at the public hearing by 

the Planning Commission at the August 28, 2012 meeting. The report is significantly reduced 

from that of previous months as most of the information on this item has been included in 

previous reports and minutes. Staff ask that the Planning Commission reference and rely on the 

staff reports from June, July, and August of this year, as well as the minutes from those meetings. 

This report summarizes the public concerns that were voiced at the August 28th meeting for the 

public and members of the Planning Commission. The minutes from the August 28, 2012 

meeting are attached to this report as Attachment 1. 

 

SUMMARY 

At the August 28, 2012 meeting, the Planning Commission chose to close the public hearing on 

the matter after extensive public comment and continue consideration of the item until this 

month's meeting. By taking such action, no additional public testimony may be taken this month. 

It is anticipated that the Planning Commission will deliberate on the matter and make a 

recommendation to City Council.   

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

A Notice of Public Hearing, advertising the Planning Commission public hearing for September 

25, 2012 was published in the Whidbey News Times on September 5, 2012. Letters advertising 

the Planning Commission public hearing for September 25, 2012 were also sent on September 

19, 2012 to the interested parties who attended the previous month's hearings or provided written 

comment. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Members of the public voiced their concerns regarding the inclusion of ADUs in the subdivision 

at last month's meeting. While there was a request by a citizen for staff to provide an executive 

summary of the public's concerns, the minutes (Attachment 1) from that meeting provide much 

more detail and more accurately capture the concerns than can be summarized in this report. 

However, for the benefit of the public and for the Commissioners not in attendance last month, 

staff has summarized the main points of concern from citizens. Please note that the bullet points 

below do not capture all of the public comment received to date on this project; only that heard at 

the August meeting.  Previous public comments are described in the minutes from each month's 

meeting and, if submitted in written form, were included in the reports as attachments.   

 

Concerns Voiced at the August 28, 2012 Meeting (generalized) 

 Homeowners bought into idea of single-family neighborhood not multi-family. 

 

City of Oak Harbor 

Planning Commission Report 
 

53



September 25, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 2 of 3 

 Concern that ADU will become a multi-family rental unit. 

 Negative effect on property values. 

 HOA will have to provide enforcement if owner moves out and property becomes a 

rental. Concerned about cost and implementation of enforcement. 

 Concern from HOA over lack of control of rental versus ownership. 

 Increased traffic on roadways within subdivision and increase in on-street parking. 

 Traffic will use Fairway Lane to get to Ault Field rather than Fort Nugent Ave. Concern 

about traffic increase on this lane. 

 ADU's will become rental units. 

 HOA should not be the regulatory board for rental units. 

 If approved, it sets a precedent for the City. 

 Concern about rentals in a single-family neighborhood. 

 Increase in negative aesthetics; more trash cans per residence, cars, etc. 

 

City staff responded to the public's questions and comments at the meeting and the responses are 

detailed in the August meeting minutes. In addition, the developer, Mr. Gentry, also spoke on the 

matter and responded to several public concerns (his response is also furnished in the minutes). 

Furthermore, the City received an email from Mr. Gentry dated September 7, 2012 in which he 

wishes to restate his position on the matter for the clarification of the Planning Commission (see 

Attachment 2). 

 

REVIEW CRITERIA 

The criteria for review of a major modification to a PRD is listed under OHMC 19.31.200 

through 19.31.230 and an analysis of that review by staff was included in the last three month's 

reports. The conclusion of that analysis is that staff found that the only change to approved plans 

or regulations is the modification to density on Sheet A1.1 of the Preliminary and Final PRD 

Drawing Set dated June 7, 2006 and the reference to the former in Ordinance No. 1583.  

Otherwise, the request is in conformance with all applicable criteria and standards in the OHMC 

and the approved PRD plans, resolutions and ordinances. If the Planning Commission chooses to 

recommend approval of the modification, it will allow the applicant to apply for the 

administrative ADU permits on a house-by-house basis. 

 

The Planning Commission is reminded that they have the authority under OHMC 19.31.210(3) to 

consider requiring such changes in the proposed project or impose such conditions of approval as 

are, in its judgment, necessary to ensure conformity with all applicable PRD criteria and 

standards. As an example, the Commission may consider adding a condition of approval to the 

draft ordinance that would limit the number of ADU's to a number less than the six proposed by 

the applicant. In addition, City staff would recommend, and the applicant has indicated 

agreement with, a condition of approval whereby the ADU's shall be integrated into the primary 

unit as opposed to detached. 

 

CONCLUSION 

While this month's report is brief, the record of review for this item is fairly extensive. There has 

been significant public input as well as significant deliberation by the Commission at past 

meetings. The Planning Commission shall review the criteria of a major modification to a PRD, 

review the public testimony given and conclude deliberation on the matter. The Planning 

54



September 25, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 3 of 3 

Commission shall also recommend approval as submitted, approval with conditions or denial to 

the City Council. 

 

It should also be pointed out that the draft ordinance (Attachment 3) is the same as that 

considered by the Planning Commission at the August meeting; no changes have been made. The 

draft ordinance approving the proposed modification for Division 4 is attached for the Planning 

Commission's consideration. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that Planning Commission take the following actions:  

 Conclude deliberations. 

 Recommend approval of the draft ordinance amending Ordinance No. 1583 to City 

Council. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. August 28, 2012 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes (see draft approval minutes, 

page 3 of this agenda packet) 

2. Email from Mr. Gentry dated September 7, 2012 

3. Draft Ordinance amending Ordinance No. 1583 

 

55



56



ATTACHMENT 3 

 

ADU Modification to Fairway Point PRD Div 4 

Ordinance 

Page 1 of 3 

  ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 1583 WHICH APPROVED THE 

PLANNED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT (PRD) OVERLAY ZONE FOR FAIRWAY 

POINT DIVISION 4, AND APPROVING A MODIFICATION TO THE PRD PLANS FOR 

FAIRWAY POINT DIVISION 4 WITH RESPECT TO DENSITY ONLY TO ALLOW FOR 

THE INCLUSION OF ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS (ADU) WITHIN FAIRWAY 

POINT PRD DIVISION 4. 

 

WHEREAS, although not specifically authorized in state statute, planned residential 

developments are encouraged by the Washington Growth Management Act as an innovative land 

development technique; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has authority under RCW 58.17 to regulate the subdivision of 

land, promote the effective use of land, and to adequately provide for the housing needs of the 

citizens of the state; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Oak Harbor's Comprehensive Plan contains policies regarding PRD in 

both the Land Use Element and the Housing Element of the Plan and the City regulates PRD 

through Chapter 19.31 of the OHMC; and 

 

WHEREAS,  FP4, L.L.C. (current property owner) is requesting to modify the PRD plans of 

Fairway Point to add ADU to the basements of house plans for up to six remaining lots to be 

developed within Division 4; and  

 

WHEREAS, accessory dwelling units are normally permitted in all single family zoning districts 

with an administrative permit however the inclusion of ADU within a PRD may change the 

approved density of a PRD and is therefore considered a major modification to the PRD; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Oak Harbor Planning Commission has the authority to review plans and hold a 

public hearing on PRD and modifications to PRD and form a recommendation to City Council 

under Sections 19.31.210 and 19.31.220 of the OHMC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has the authority to approve or deny a modification to a PRD  at a 

closed record meeting pursuant to OHMC 19.31.280(2) and 19.31.230; and  

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1583 approved the PRD overlay zone for Fairway Point Division 4 

on August 4, 2010; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1583 required development of the subject property to be consistent 

with the Fairway Point Division 4 Final PRD Plan as approved by the Oak Harbor City Council 

on June 19, 2007 and any development standards not addressed by the Final PRD shall be the 

same as the underlying zoning and/or other applicable provisions of the OHMC; and  

 

WHEREAS, a PRD Overlay Zone modifies the existing zoning regulations for a district; and 

 

57



ATTACHMENT 3 

 

ADU Modification to Fairway Point PRD Div 4 

Ordinance 

Page 2 of 3 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1583 established the density for Division 4 of the PRD to be 4.76 

du/ac by reference to the approved PRD plans; and 

 

WHEREAS, the applicant is seeking to change the density established through the PRD Overlay 

Zone from 4.76 du/ac to 5.48 du/ac for Division 4; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to OHMC 18.20, and after due and proper notice, on July 24, 2012, the 

Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding the modification to Fairway Point 

Division 4 PRD to consider the inclusion of ADU within the subdivision; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to OHMC 18.20, and after due and proper notice, on August 28, 2012, the 

Planning Commission continued the public hearing from July 24, 2012 regarding the 

modification to Fairway Point Division 4 PRD to consider the inclusion of ADU within the 

subdivision; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to OHMC 18.20, and after due and proper notice, on September 25, 2012, 

the Planning Commission continued the public hearing from August 28, 2012 regarding the 

modification to Fairway Point Division 4 PRD to consider the inclusion of ADU within the 

subdivision; and 

 

WHEREAS, OHMC 19.31.210(3) authorizes conditions of approval to be imposed upon a PRD 

major modification that are, in the Planning Commission's judgment, necessary to ensure 

conformity; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Oak Harbor Planning Commission finds that conditioning this approval 

whereby the ADU's shall be integrated into the primary unit and such condition is consistent with 

OHMC 19.31.210(3) and the City Council finds the same; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to OHMC 18.20, and after due and proper notice, on October 16, 2012, the 

City Council held a closed record meeting regarding the modification to Fairway Point Division 

4 PRD to consider the inclusion of ADU within the subdivision; and 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR do ordain as follows: 

 

Section One. Section 2 of Ordinance No. 1583 is hereby amended with respect to the project 

density set forth on the face of Sheet A1.1 of Exhibit F: Preliminary & Final PRD Building 

Elevations, Typical Residential Landscape Plan, & Fence Detail - dated June 7, 2006 from 4.76 

du/ac to 5.48 du/ac as shown in Exhibit A referenced herein and attached to this ordinance. 

 

Section Two. Section 2 of Ordinance No. 1583 is hereby amended to add the following 

sentence:  Accessory Dwelling Units within Fairway Point Division 4 PRD shall be integrated 

into the primary unit and shall not be detached.   

 

Section Three.  Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or its application to any person 

or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of the Ordinance or the application of the 

provision to other persons or circumstances is not affected. 

58



ATTACHMENT 3 

 

ADU Modification to Fairway Point PRD Div 4 

Ordinance 

Page 3 of 3 

 

Section Four.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force (5) five days following 

publication. 

 

 

PASSED by the City Council this 16th day of October, 2012. 

 

(    )  APPROVED by its Mayor this _____ day of _______________, 2012. 

(    )  Vetoed 

       THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR 

 

 

              

       Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

       

City Clerk 

 

Approved as to Form: 

 

 

 

       

City Attorney 

 

Published:       

 

 

59





Nightclub Ordinance 

 

Public Meeting 

 

60



  

 

FROM: Cac Kamak, AICP  

Senior Planner 

   

 

 

PURPOSE 

This is a continued discussion on restricting nightclubs based on size.  A request was 

made by residents living in the Central Business District to regulate the size of uses that 

have a nightclub license by zoning district.  The request is primarily rooted in the impacts 

created by the large crowds that patronize such clubs.  The request was also supported by 

the Oak Harbor Police Department. 

 

BACKGROUND 

The Planning Commission was introduced to this issue on April 24, 2012.  The 

Commission also obtained public input on this issue at the meeting.  Speaking to this 

issues were several members of the public that represented residences adjacent to 

nightclub licensed establishments, nightclub licensed establishment owners and nightclub 

patrons. The public comments provided at the meeting outlined the key issues related to 

the impacts of nightclubs.  These comments are summarized below: 

 

 An understanding by the public that adoption of any new codes may not change 

the operations of current nightclubs (non-conformities) 

 Small scale establishments that have nightclub licenses such as the Oak Harbor 

Tavern and Seven West do not seem to be a negative impacts on surrounding 

areas 

 Only the large scale establishments that have a nightclub license seems to have 

impacts 

 Almost all the complaints heard at the public meeting were related to the Element 

nightclub. 

 The impacts identified were primarily about noise created by large groups of 

people, loud cars, trespassing, and the seeming lack of respect and poor business 

practices 

 The perceived lack of the Element owner’s cooperation, neighborliness and  

initiative to make the business more compatible 

 Preference for specifically restricting nightclubs as opposed to general uses in a 

district    

 

It was evident from the public input gathered that the scale of nightclubs and the number 

of people that they can accommodate have a direct nexus to the negative impacts on 

adjacent properties.  Therefore, at its June 26, 2012 meeting, the Planning Commission 

discussed various methodologies to determine how to address the impacts.  The Planning 

Commission determined that limiting the size of business that can apply for a nightclub 

license based on the zoning district was a good methodology.   

 Date: __September 25, 2012 

Subject: Restricting size of nightclubs by 

zoning districts   

City of Oak Harbor 

Planning Commission Memo 

61



  

 

 

 

 

DISCUSSION 

As discussed at the April 24, 2012 meeting, nightclubs are not uses regulated by Chapter 

19, Zoning but are licenses regulated by Chapter 5, Business Licenses and Regulations.  

Chapter 5.22, Nightclubs, define the activities for which a license is required.  These 

activities, such as music, singing and dancing (conducted after 10pm) can take place in 

bars, taverns, restaurants, brew pubs, cocktail lounges, places of entertainment etc., all of 

which are listed as specific uses in several of the city’s zoning districts ranging from C1, 

Commercial Neighborhood to I, Industrial.   

 

The first step in regulating nightclub licenses by zoning districts is to determine in which 

zoning district the city would like to prohibited uses from obtaining a Nightclub license.  

Due to the impacts of nightclub activities on surrounding properties, it is logical to 

prohibit them in the following zoning districts: 

 R1, Single Family Residential 

 R2, Limited Multiple-Family Residential 

 R3, Multiple-Family Residential  

 R4, Multiple-Family Residential  

 RO, Residential Use 

 C1, Neighborhood Commercial – This zoning district lists Restaurant as a 

conditional use and allows 20% of its seating for a bar.  These kind of 

establishments (none exit currently -2012) can still have music, singing and 

dancing as long as it ceases at 10pm. 

 C4, Highway Service Commercial – This zoning district lists Restaurants as a 

permitted use.  The intent of this district is to provide uses that take advantage of 

access to the highway.  This district is limited in area and is also located in and 

around the Accident Potential Districts that intends to limit the number if people 

that may work, live, shop etc. in the area.  

 PF, Public Facilities 

 

Therefore, the zoning districts that would permit them are: 

 CBD, Central Business District 

 C3, Community Commercial, 

 C5, Highway Corridor Commercial 

 PIP, Planned Industrial Park 

 PBP, Planned Business Park 

 I, Industrial 

 

These zoning districts and their characteristics, along with their intent, can be used to 

establish a gradient for size regulations.  The CBD, where pedestrian traffic is 

emphasized and large surface parking areas are discouraged, it would make sense to limit 

the size to smaller establishments, whereas in the I district, existing or minimum 

additional regulations may be sufficient to address the impacts created by large users. 

 

 

62



  

 

 

So what should the limits be for uses in the various zoning districts that can obtain a 

nightclub license?  There is no known study or published information on this topic since 

it is not a common practice to regulate licenses by occupancy limits
1
.  Therefore there is 

no formula or guideline to indicate best case scenarios.  However, the city can look at the 

current conditions and use that as a basis for regulations.  The table below provides the 

occupancy limts of the uses that currently hold a nightclub license. It is clear that the 

Elements has a considerably larger occupancy limit than the other businesses and that 

large capacity seems to be the nexus to the impacts that adjacent property owners 

indicated in the many public input opportunities provided at the Planning Commission 

and City Council meetings. 

 

Business Zoning District Occupancy Limit 

El Cazador C-5, Highway Corridor 291 

Oak Harbor Tavern CBD, Central Business District 108 

Mi Pueblo CBD, Central Business District 280 

Seven West CBD, Central Business District 165 

Off the Hook CBD, Central Business District 201 

Elements CBD, Central Business District 580+219(covered area) 

 

The public input provided to the Planning Commission in May 2012, indicated that the 

other nightclubs in the Central Business District do not create nearly the impacts as the 

Elements did and that most of those impacts were tolerable.  Since Mi Pueblo is the next 

largest business that has a nightclub license in the CBD, its occupancy limit may be a 

indicator for the limit on uses in the CBD. 

 

Currently there are no businesses on the C-3, Community Commercial District that have 

a nightclub license.  This district is the workhorse of all the commercial districts and 

developments in these districts tend to have more surface parking, access to the major 

streets etc.  It should be noted that the C3 district does allow mixed use developments 

that include residential uses in upper floors and, and in several areas of the city, C3 zoned 

properties are located immediately adjacent to low density residential property. The 

community can consider maintaining the limits in this district similar to CBD or raise it 

to a higher limit.   

 

The C5, Highway Corridor Commercial zone is intended for uses that are also heavy 

traffic users and generators and serve a regional population.  El Cazador is located in this 

zone since the entire Kmart/Saars complex is zoned C5.  Public comments received on 

the nightclub issue did not indicate any major impacts by this nightclub user.    Similar to 

the CBD and C3 district, the C5 district does allow for mixed use developments with 

residential in the upper floors. Similar to the C3 district, the city can consider maintaining 

the limits in this district similar to CBD or raise it to a higher limit. 

                                                           
1
 An internet search was done to find articles and other cities zoning regulations that regulate nightclubs.  

Many cities zoning regulations indicate minimum distance separation from residential, school, parks etc.  

However, the search also indicated many cities facing the challenge of defining nightclubs since uses such 

as restaurants, taverns, bars etc. were creating similar impacts but were not regulated as nightclubs.  Oak 

Harbor does not have this issue since nightclubs are licensed activities and not listed as a use in the zoning 

district. 

63



  

 

 

Currently there are no nightclub license holders in the PBP, Planned Business Park and 

the PIP, Planned Industrial Park.  These districts allow certain accessory uses (brew pubs, 

restaurants, theatres) that may be interested in a nightclub license.  These districts do not 

permit residential uses.  Therefore, these are districts where minimum restrictions may be 

adequate.  This is not to say that large nightclubs won’t have impacts on the adjacent 

uses.  Noise impacts may not be detrimental, but other impacts such as vandalism, 

trespassing etc may be an issue. 

 

Currently there are no nightclub license holders in the I, Industrial zone.  However, this is 

one district where a limit may not be necessary since residential uses are not permitted in 

this district.  This is not to say that large nightclubs won’t have impacts on adjacent 

industrial uses.  Noise impacts may not be detrimental, but other impacts such as 

vandalism, trespassing etc may be an issue. 

 

Based on the above, a few suggestions for limits are provided below for consideration: 

 

Zoning District Occupancy Limits 

Central Business District 300 

C3, Community Commercial  300 or 30% increase to 400 

C5, Highway Corridor Commercial 300 or 60% increase to approximately 500 

PBP, Planned Business Park 300 or 60% increase to approximately 500 

PIP, Planned Industrial Park 300 or 60% increase to approximately 500 

I, Industrial  No limitations 

 

 

The Planning Commission is requested to consider the above limitations and provide 

direction to staff.  The code amendments required to implement these regulations will 

include these restrictions. 

 

Non-conformities 

If regulations were adopted with the above proposed limitations, at least one business 

(Elements) will become out of compliance with the new code.  Since this code 

amendment falls under Title 5 Business Licenses and Regulations, the non-conforming 

use language in Title 19 Zoning will not apply.  Therefore specific language would have 

to be drafted in Title 5 to address non-conformities.  

 

Currently, nightclubs licenses are renewed every year with annual background checks on 

the owners and review for compliance with state and city laws.  With a limit on size for 

these licenses, language would have to be crafted to allow for the continued use of 

existing nightclubs that do not meet the requirements.  However, change of owners 

requires an application for a brand new license.  Since a non-conforming nightclub will 

now be larger than what the code permits, a new owner will not be able to apply for a 

nightclub license.  Therefore, an existing non-conforming nightclub will never be able to 

transfer or endure a change in ownership.  If the city would like to overcome this, 

language can be crafted with specific time lines, similar to how non-conforming land uses 

are regulated with an amortization period.  The city may choose to allow transfer of 

ownership, within the amortization period.  Some of these questions will also need some 

64



  

legal review and advice prior to consideration for adoption. The City Council will 

ultimately have to decide on how the city should deal with the specifics of non-

conforming licenses.   

 

CONCLUSIONS 

Staff requests that the Planning Commission provide some direction with respect to the 

limits on occupancy for the various zoning districts.  The transfer of business licenses and 

related non-conformities are not directly linked to land use and therefore not considered 

under the authority of the Planning Commission.  However, the Planning Commission 

may choose to formulate a recommendation on it. 

 

65



Shoreline Master Program (SMP) 

Update 

 

Public Hearing 

66



 Page 1 

Memo 

To: Members of the Planning Commission 

Cc: Steve Powers, Development Services Director 

From: Ethan Spoo, Senior Planner 

Date: 9/18/12 

Re: Shoreline Master Program Update – Final Review and Overview of Department of Ecology Requested 
Changes 

PURPOSE 

This memorandum reviews the Draft Shoreline Master Program (SMP) document and gives an overview of 
Department of Ecology (DOE) requested changes to the document. Staff is anticipating that the Planning 
Commission will make a recommendation at the September Planning Commission meeting and forward it to 
City Council for their consideration. 
 

DRAFT SMP DOCUMENT REVIEW 

The following discussion gives a brief overview of each chapter of the Draft SMP document. Staff believe this 
may be helpful prior to Planning Commission making a recommendation on the document. 

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION 
Topics discussed in Chapter 1 include the purpose of the Shoreline Management Act (SMA), purpose of the 
SMP, shoreline jurisdiction, applicability of the SMP, SMP basics, and organization of the document.  

Important points to remember: 
 Shoreline jurisdiction extends 200 feet from the Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM) of Oak and 

Crescent Harbors. It also extends to the edge of wetlands which have boundaries crossing the 200 
feet. 

 The SMP applies to all uses, activities, and development within shoreline jurisdiction. Federal agency 
actions are exempt. All proposed activities, developments, and uses require a shoreline permit, unless 
specifically exempted. Please note that the SMP applies to all new development and activities in the 
future, but does not apply to existing structures or uses. 

CHAPTER 2 – ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATION PROVISIONS 
Chapter 2 lays out a system of “environment designations” for the shoreline which are similar to zones. These 
zones allow for a variety of uses and designate certain areas as appropriate or inappropriate for specific types of 
development. The environment designations proposed are: (1) Maritime (2) Urban Mixed Use (3) Residential (4) 
Residential Bluff Conservancy (5) Urban Public Facilities (6) Conservancy and (7) Aquatic. 

67



 Page 2 

Important points to remember: 
 The Maritime environment is a new concept for Oak Harbor. This will allow for water-dependent 

industrial and commercial uses in this map designation, whereas the existing SMP specifically prohibits 
industrial uses from being located on Oak Harbor’s shoreline. 

 The Conservancy designation is restrictive and only allows for a very limited number of uses such as 
recreation. Transportation and utilities infrastructure are allowed conditionally. This designation applies 
to Freund Marsh, Maylor Point, and Crescent Harbor. 

CHAPTER 3 – GENERAL PROVISIONS 
Chapter 3 is the general provisions which apply to all areas within shoreline jurisdiction. Topics discussed in this 
Chapter include economic development; archaeological and historic resources; critical areas and flood hazard 
areas; mitigation sequencing; public access; vegetation conservation; critical saltwater habitat; and water 
quality. 

Important points to remember: 
 The archaeological and historic resources section discusses the treatment of these resources under 

two scenarios: when there is a known resource on a site and when there is an inadvertent discovery. 
These policies and regulations require that applicants perform an archaeological site assessment when 
there is a known resources on a site and prepare a plan for dealing with these resources during 
construction. When an inadvertent discovery is made, work must be stopped, appropriate authorities 
notified and a plan for dealing with the resources must be developed. 

 Chapter 3, Section 4 applies the City’s critical areas ordinance (CAO) within shoreline jurisdiction and 
specifies portions of the CAO which don’t apply. 

 Public access is required for new shoreline development, unless requiring the access would be 
unconstitutional. Usually, this means it is required when a development creates demand for such 
access. Public access is not required for single-family development with less than 5 units. 

 All new development which exceeds the threshold for non-conforming development (60% of fair market 
value) is required to submit a “shoreline landscaping” plan establishing a 30-foot vegetation 
management zone (VMZ) from the OHWM called “zone 1.”Within zone 1, no structures are allowed 
and only native plants are permitted. A 50-foot structural setback from the OHWM is also required. 
However, between the 30 – 50 foot area (“zone 2”), water-oriented uses such as decks, patios, 
gazebos are allowed although impervious surface generally cannot exceed 20% in zone 2 

CHAPTER 4 – SHORELINE USE  PROVISIONS 
Chapter 4 discusses permitted, prohibited and conditional uses in each of the environment designations as well 
as specific restrictions on uses for each designation. 

Important points to remember: 

 There is a spectrum of uses allowed along Oak Harbor’s shoreline within the seven different 
environment designations.. More intense uses are allowed on Oak Harbor’s central shoreline area with 
more  protective designations applying to Freund Marsh, Maylor Point, and Crescent Harbor. 

 Boating facilities and marinas are generally relegated to the Maritime environment with key exceptions. 
Public and private piers are allowed in Urban Mixed Use environment and at Flintstone Park in the 
Urban Public Facility environment to accommodate a City pier. 

 Water-dependent industry and manufacturing are allowed in the Maritime environment. 

 Chapter 4 also places height, setback, and impervious surface limits on shoreline uses. Height is 
generally limited to 35 feet within shoreline jurisdiction, although a height of 55 feet can be permitted in 
Maritime and Urban Mixed Use subject to a view study. Setbacks are generally 50 feet, but are 75 feet 

68



 Page 3 

in Urban Public Facilities environment and 100 feet in Conservancy environment. Setbacks can be 
averaged for residential uses when there is adjacent development that is closer. 

CHAPTER 5 – SHORELINE MODIFICATION PROVISIONS 

Modifications are things which are done to prepare the shoreline for a future use such as dredging, fill, or 
stabilization. Much of Chapter 5 deals with stabilization (bulkheads) for which the State has very specific 
requirements. 

Important points to remember: 
 In compliance with the State Guidelines, the Draft SMP allows hard stabilization (bulkheads) where it 

can be demonstrated that an existing, primary structure or use is in imminent danger from shoreline 
erosion, and that soft armoring methods are not feasible. Hard stabilization may also be allowed for 
new structures under certain conditions. Major repair (50% or more of linear length of hard stabilization) 
must meet the same provisions as new stabilization. Minor repairs (less than 50% of linear length of 
hard stabilization) is allowed outright. 

 Specific standards apply to new overwater structures (piers, docks, floats, mooring balls/buoys) 
designed to limit their impact. For example, new private piers are limited to 6 feet in width and must 
have 24% open area to allow light to pass through. 

CHAPTER 6 – ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 
Chapter 6 deals is the “process” portion of the document. It lays out roles and responsibilities for administering 
the plan and minimum requirements for submitting shoreline permits. Exemptions from permits are also called 
out. Limits are placed on the expansion of non-conforming development. 

Important points to remember: 
 The Draft SMP proposes that shoreline substantial development permits and conditional use permits 

undergo administrative (staff) review. The Hearing Examiner is the review authority for certain shoreline 
substantial development and conditional use permits, if recommended to him by the Administrator. The 
Hearing Examiner has sole authority over variances. 

 Non-conforming structures and uses may only be expanded under certain circumstances. Non-
conforming uses may be expanded one time at 50% of the floor area provided the expansion is not 
waterward into the shoreline setback. Non-conforming structures can be expanded or modified 
provided that the degree of non-conformity is not increased. All modifications which exceed 60% of the 
fair market value are required to conform with shoreline master program. 

 
CHAPTER 7 – DEFINITIONS 
Chapter 7 is the definitions section of the document. Staff has not particular comments on this chapter. 

OVERVIEW OF DOE REQUESTED CHANGES 

As previously mentioned, DOE has final approval authority for Oak Harbor’s SMP. Development Services staff 
have been in contact with DOE Shoreline Planner, David Pater, throughout the entire update process. 
Additionally, DOE has completed two detailed reviews of the entire Draft SMP document and has provided 
comments to staff. Prior to recommending that Planning Commission approve the Draft SMP document, staff 
are summarizing the changes to the document for Planning Commission. Because there were approximately 75 
changes to the document, staff are briefing Planning Commission on the most significant changes. The 
changes are discussed topically below. 

CRITICAL AREAS 
Critical areas are wetlands, geologically hazardous areas, frequently flooded areas, oak trees, fish and wildlife 
habitat conservation areas, and critical aquifer recharge areas. The State requires that each city throughout the 
state have a critical areas ordinance (CAO) for protecting these areas. Until a few years ago, there was 

69



 Page 4 

confusion at the State and local level as to how CAOs apply within shoreline jurisdiction. The courts have said 
that critical areas do apply within shoreline jurisdiction, but only to the extent that they do not conflict with the 
Shoreline Management Act. 

DOE offers jurisdictions two options with regard to how they treat CAOs in their SMPs. They can: (1) adopt the 
entire text of their critical areas regulations into their SMP or (2) they can reference the specific ordinance(s) 
which are their CAOs. Staff are recommending that Oak Harbor choose the second option. Since staff are 
recommending this second option, the SMP references the City’s CAO in Chapter 3, Section 4 of the SMP. 
DOE is requiring that the text of our CAO be adopted as an appendix to the SMP document. 

There are, however, some conflicts with the SMP and the CAO. DOE is requiring that those conflicts be 
eliminated prior to adoption and has requested that certain parts of our CAO not apply within shoreline 
jurisdiction. These “exceptions” are listed in Chapter 3, Section 4 of the CAO. DOE is requiring the following 
exceptions: 

 Marine Buffers. The CAO requires that marine riparian buffers be 100 feet, whereas the SMP in 
Chapters 3 and 4 requires a vegetation management zone of 30 feet and a setback in most shoreline 
environment designations of 50 feet. Therefore, the CAO and the SMP conflict with the SMP being 
more lenient. As required by DOE, a sentence has been inserted in Chapter 3, Section 4 of the SMP 
which states that the marine riparian buffers in OHMC 20.25.040(1) do not apply within shoreline 
jurisdiction. 

 Marine buffer reductions. The CAO allows for buffer widths to be reduced up to 50% if low impact 
land uses and a restoration plan are put in place. According to DOE, reducing buffers by 50% does not 
meet the current science on buffers. DOE is requiring that buffers be reduced no more than 25%. 
Therefore, a statement has been inserted into the SMP that says “Within the shoreline jurisdiction, 
incentive-based buffer reductions shall not exceed a total of 25%.” 

 Marine buffer averaging. The CAO also allows buffer widths to be reduced using “’buffer averaging” 
which essentially means that the buffer is wider than necessary in some places although it may be 
smaller in some places than required. The CAO allows marine buffers as small as 25 feet. According to 
DOE, a reduction to 25 feet does not meet the current state of buffer science and it is also inconsistent 
with other sections of the SMP which generally require a 50-foot setback for structures from the 
OHWM, as well as a 30-foot vegetation management zone within that 50-foot setback. The SMP has 
been revised to be consistent, which staff believes will eliminate this problem. 

 Flexibility near steep slopes. The CAO in OHMC Section 20.28.040 allows for “minor alterations” on 
steep slopes including impacting up to 20% of the steep slope. According to DOE, this allows for too 
much intrusion on the steep slopes. Thus, a statement has been included in Chapter 3, Section 4 of the 
SMP stating that OHMC 20.28.040 does not apply within shoreline jurisdiction. 

NON-CONFORMING USES 
The Draft SMP previously included language that allowed for a one-time expansion of non-conforming uses of 
up to 50%. DOE pointed out that that language does not meet the State Guidelines (WAC 173-27-080) which 
requires that all expansions of non-conforming uses be subject to a conditional use permit. Staff agreed in 
conversations with DOE to put some further limiting factors on the ability to expand non-conforming uses. Thus, 
a statement has been inserted in Chapter 6, Section J indicating that non-conforming uses cannot expand 
waterward of the existing structure. 

DEFINITIONS 
Since both the CAO and the SMP have a definitions section, DOE has requested that the two sets of definitions 
be reconciled.  Staff has made the definition changes to Chapter 7 of the SMP. The SMP document states that 
CAO definitions do not apply within shoreline jurisdiction. DOE also required changes to definitions not 
pertaining to the CAO to be consistent with current guidelines. 

70



 Page 5 

THE SHORELINE ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATIONS MAP 
The shoreline environment designations map is attached as Figure 1 to the Draft SMP. This map was revised 
since its first presentation to the Planning Commission in May, 2012. The revisions were made based upon 
more accurate information available regarding the extent of wetland boundaries in the Freund Marsh area. 
Since the introduction of the map in May, staff have been made aware of wetland studies and documents from 
the Army Corp of Engineers regarding wetlands in this area and have revised the maps to be consistent with 
this information. Staff have also discussed this information extensively with the DOE and have reached 
preliminary agreement on the revised map. Please see Exhibit 1 which is attached to the Draft SMP. 

Please also note that the shoreline jurisdiction now covers the westernmost lots in the Dillard’s and Driftwood 
Beach subdivisions. The State has provided new information for the ditch along the back of these lots which 
indicates that the ditch is in shoreline jurisdiction. Staff have notified these property owners to let them know that 
the new SMP will apply to their property. 

71



Figure 1
Shoreline Environment Designations

Aquatic*
Maritime
Urban Mixed Use
Residential
Residential - Bluff Conservancy
Urban Public Facility
Conservancy

[
0 1,000 2,000

Feet

*The Aquatic shoreline environment designation extends to the City's in-water jurisdiction line.

Data represented on this map were collected at different accuracy levels by various sources, including the City of Oak Harbor, Island County,
NASWI, WA DNR Shorezone data and WDFW. Shoreline jurisdiction and wetland boundaries are approximate and have not been formerly
delineated or surveyed and are intended for planning analysis only. Additional site-specific evaluation may be needed to confirm/verify
information shown on this map. No warranties of any sort, including, but not limited to accuracy, fitness or merchantability, accompany this map.

Map Date: September 2012 72



Permit Extension  

for Adult Day Care 

Conditional Use Permit  

 

Public Hearing 

73



Planning Commission 

Meeting of September 25, 2012 

Adult Day Care Facility 

Staff Report 
1 

Agenda Item No. 6 – Adult Day Care Facility: 

Extension of modular building permit  

 

Project Information 

Property Owners: City of Oak Harbor 

Location: 917 E. Whidbey Avenue 

Zoning: PF Public Facilities  

Comprehensive Plan: Public Facilities  

Site Area:  0.6095 Acres 

Adjacent Uses: Public Facilities, Residential Office  

 

 

Request 

Mr. Mike McIntyre, Senior Services Director, requests a permit extension for the existing 

Daybreak Adult Care Facility.  The extension would allow for the continued use of an 

existing modular structure within the Public Facilities (PF) zone. 

 

In a memo addressed to the Development Services Department Director (PC Attachment 

1), Mr. McIntyre notes the existing use of the building for senior services related 

programs and events.   

 

History 

Prior to 2001 until mid-2010, the adult daycare program cared for disabled or elderly 

individuals for periods of time during the day by providing activities and attending to 

specific needs, offering assistance to caretakers of the individuals.  The adult daycare 

program was relocated to city-owned property, with Public Facilities zoning, in 2001 and 

was housed in a modular home.  From 2010 to present the facility has been used to 

conduct Washington certified caregiver training courses, houses a foot care clinic for use 

by the elderly and is used for various meetings and activities associated with senior 

support. The use of a modular home for these types of activities is specifically allowed by 

the standards of the Public Facilities zoning district.  The initial approval of a modular 

structure is good for a period of five years; two year extensions of the use are available 

subject to Planning Commission approval. 

 

Application Review 

Oak Harbor Municipal Code (OHMC) 19.20.792 authorizes a manufactured home to be 

placed within the Public Facilities district to serve non-residential uses listed in the 

permitted and conditional uses of the Public Facilities zoning district.  OHMC 19.20.775 

(3) provides for senior centers and adult day care centers as a primary permitted use 

within the Public Facilities zoning district.  The modular may be placed in this zoning 

district for a period not to exceed five years.  The building permit for this modular (BLD-

01-353) was approved in August 2001.  Two-year extensions may be approved by the 

Planning Commission.   

 

74



Planning Commission 

Meeting of September 25, 2012 

Adult Day Care Facility 

Staff Report 
2 

 

Analysis 

When first proposed, project was reviewed by staff and found to be consistent with the 

intent of the Oak Harbor Comprehensive Plan and the provisions of the Oak Harbor 

Municipal Code.  Specifically, the Comprehensive Plan Government Service Element 

(Goal 7) outlines the need to continue to provide senior citizens with recreational, social, 

educational, and health maintenance services designed to meet their needs.  All 

applicable provisions of the Municipal Code were met.  Accordingly, staff supported the 

original request and the subsequent time extensions. 

 

There have been no significant changes in land use or changes in area conditions such 

either the original approval or the time extension.  Staff supports the continuation of this 

land use at this location.  Staff believes that the additional two-year extension to the 

modular structure will allow the City to continue to provide building space for important 

senior-related services.  Staff finds the proposed project to be in conformance with the 

Oak Harbor Municipal Code and the Oak Harbor Comprehensive Plan.   

 

Conclusion 
Based on the above analysis, staff finds that the two year extension for the Oak Harbor 

Adult Day Care Modular has met the requirements and development regulations of the 

Oak Harbor Municipal Code and the Comprehensive Plan and as such the public interest 

will be served by the extension.   

 

Therefore, staff recommends APPROVAL of the two-year extension for the use of an 

existing modular structure in the Public Facilities zoning district. 

 

Recommendation 

1. Conduct the public hearing. 

2. Adopt Findings, Conclusions and Record of Decision and approve the two-year 

extension for the use of an existing modular structure in the Public Facilities 

zoning district. 

 

Attachments: 

1.   Memo from Mr. Mike McIntyre, Senior Services Director, dated August 17, 2012. 

2. Findings, Conclusion and Record of Decision dated September 25, 2012 

 

 

75



PC ATTACHMENT 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                

August 17, 2012 

 

FROM: Mike McIntyre, OH Senior Services Administrator 

 

TO:  Steve Powers, Development Services Director 

 

SUBJECT: Request for Permit Extension for OH Adult Day Care Building 

 

OAK HARBOR ADULT DAY CARE BUILDING PERMIT(BLD01-OO353) 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

In October of 2001, a building permit was issued for a modular unit designated to house the City’s adult day 

care program, located on Public Facilities (PF) zoned property adjacent to the City’s Senior Center. In addition, 

a Variance request (relating to chapter 19.44.100) was approved permitting driveway and parking areas to be 

gravel, with the exception of the parking area near the building which was paved for disabled accessibility.  

 

The modular unit was used to conduct adult day care services from 2002 until mid-2010. From 2010 to 

the present the unit has been used for Washington certified caregiver training classes (over 350 people 

certified to date), a foot care clinic as well as various meetings and activities associated with senior 

support. The City’s current contract with the non-profit group Island Thrift (modular facility owners) 

permits use of the building for “senior services related programs and events.”  

 

In 2006, 2008 and 2010, 2 year permit extensions were granted by the Planning Commission for subject facility. 

At those times Development Services found no land use issues to exist or likely to be created to preclude 

approval. An additional two year extension would be in compliance with the dictates of OMHC code 19.20.792 

(Manufactured home structures). 

 

OH Senior Services wishes to continue its use of the modular unit. The building’s current permit extension will 

expire in October 2012. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Recommend placing request for an additional 2 year permit extension for the adult day care building on 

September’s Planning Commission agenda for Board consideration/approval.   

 

76



PC ATTACHMENT 2 

 

 

 BEFORE THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR PLANNING COMMISSION 

 STATE OF WASHINGTON 

 

 

In Re Permit Application No. BLD01-0035 )   FINDINGS OF FACT 

Modular Building Permit   )  CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

On Public Facilities Zoned Property  )  AND DECISION OF  

      )  PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

THIS MATTER came before the Oak Harbor Planning Commission upon the application of Mike 

McIntyre, Oak Harbor Senior Services Administrator, for a two-year time extension of a modular 

building permit on Public Facilities zoned property.  Having considered the evidence in the record, 

heard arguments of the parties and any public comment, and being fully advised in the premises, the 

Planning Commission hereby enters the following findings of fact, conclusions of law and decision: 

 

Findings of Fact 

 

1. A memorandum seeking the two-year extension of the existing modular building permit on 

Public Facilities zoned property was filed with the Department of Development Services and deemed 

complete by the Director on August 17, 2012.   

 

2. The two-year extension sought by the applicant is for the Oak Harbor Adult Day Care 

Facility, a an existing facility located at 917 E. Whidbey Avenue, located within the City boundaries, 

and more specifically encompassing Island County parcel number S7600-00-02504-0.  

 

3. The requested two-year extension is exempt from the SEPA process.   

 

 Conclusions of Law 

 

A. The Planning Commission has jurisdiction to determine whether to extend this permit 

pursuant to Oak Harbor Municipal Code Section 19.20.792. 

 

B. Proper notice of the public hearing was given. 

 

C. A single open record hearing on the permit application was held before the Planning 

Commission on September 25, 2012. 

 

D. The permit application meets the requirements of Oak Harbor Municipal Code Section 

19.20.792. 

77



PC ATTACHMENT 2 

 

 

Decision 

 

Based upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Planning Commission hereby 

grants the application for the permit herein.    

 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED THE 25
th

 DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2012. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

CITY OF OAK HARBOR, WASHINGTON 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Chair 

Attest: 

 

_________________________________        

Kathy Gifford 

Clerk to the Planning Commission 

 

78



2012 Comprehensive Plan  

Amendment Discussion 

 

Public Meeting 

 

 

79



 City of Oak Harbor 

Planning Commission 

 

  Bill No. ___________7_____________ 

  Date:    September 25, 2012 

Subject:  2012-2018 Capital 

Improvements Plan 

  

 

FROM:     Cac Kamak, AICP 

  Senior Planner 
 

       
 
PURPOSE  
This memo presents a draft of the 2012-2018 Capital Improvements Plan (CIP).  The CIP is reviewed 

annually as part of the annual Comprehensive Plan Amendment process.     

  

BACKGROUND 

The Capital Improvements Plan is a planning document that lists the projects the City anticipates to 

plan, design and implement over a six year planning period.  The City of Oak Harbor’s CIP includes 

projects in Enterprise
1
 Funds such as wastewater, stormwater, etc and also Non-Enterprise Funds such 

as streets, parks and recreation, fire and law enforcement.  Since this is a “planning” document, it 

includes all the capital needs of the City and their estimates.  Amendments are made every year based 

on available resources. 

 

The CIP document includes goals and policies, revenue sources, rates and projections for enterprise 

and non-enterprise funds, infrastructure needs over the next six years and a proposed schedule for 

implementation.  Below is a summary of the various sections contained within the CIP: 

 

 Section 1 provides an introduction to the CIP, its link to the Growth Management Act and the 

Revised Code of Washington (RCW). 

 Section 2 provides the planning context for the CIP and lists the goals and policies that provide 

the framework for the CIP. 

 Section 3 is an inventory of the existing capital facilities within the City.  It provides the basic 

foundation for the CIP.  

 Section 4 of the CIP contains the list of projects for the non-enterprise funded systems such as 

Streets, Parks and Recreation, Windjammer etc., as well as the enterprise funded systems such 

as Sewer, Water, Wastewater and Marina.   

 Section 5 includes the prioritization process for the non growth related capital facilities listed 

in Table 4.4.  The prioritization process was done in 2006.   

 Section 6 provides information on revenues sources for the various funds and includes 

projections for these revenues over the next six years.   

 Section 7 is the implementation plan for the non-growth related projects that are listed in Table 

4.4 and prioritized in Section 5. 

 The appendix section of the CIP contains most of the details of the projects, their cost and the 

schedule. 

 

                                                           

1 Enterprise Funds are self supporting funds with user fees and includes utilities such as Water, Sewers, Stormwater, Solid 

Waste and Marina 

80



 City of Oak Harbor 

Planning Commission 

 

The highlights of the changes to this year’s CIP are provided below: 

 

 Removal of projects that have been completed – The Pioneer Way reconstruction project and 

related infrastructure projects have been struck out of the CIP.  Though there will be some 

costs that will overflow into next year as the project gets closed out, it can be deleted from this 

planning document. 

 Update to the current and projected revenues – This is done annually with information obtained 

from the Finance Department.  Most of these changes are in Section 6 of the CIP. 

 Updating the list of street projects to reflect the adopted Transportation Improvements Plan 

(TIP) – The Planning Commission held a hearing on May 22, 2012 on the TIP and made a 

recommendation to the City Council to approve the document.  This year the changes include 

removing Pioneer Way improvements from the document, updates to cost estimates on the NE 

7
th

 Avenue reconstruction and reschedule of allocation for future projects. 

 Update to project schedules – Most of these changes to the schedule are done in Appendix C of 

the documents since it contains more details of the project.  The schedule is updated every year 

to match available funds.  The major projects that are tracking for implementation over the 

next few years are: 

o Streets – NE 7
th

 Avenue reconstruction followed by SE 4
th

 Street 

o Parks – upgrades to the splash park, lagoon bridge, continuing to acquire land for open 

space, community and neighborhood parks 

o Wastewater System – sewer line replacements and continuing work on a new treatment 

facility 

o Water System – North Reservoir and associated improvements 

o Stormwater System – 42 inch outfall reconstruction 

 Other updates –  

o The CIP document has been updated to reflect the City Council’s decision on the 

location of the wastewater treatment facility.   

o The cost for the improvements on SR20 has been updated to reflect the most recent 

estimates. 

o Basic statistics (Section 3) on the various facilities that serve the community were 

updated. 

 

It is clear from the document that the needs of the community greatly outweigh the resources 

available. Therefore, updates are made every year to reflect the implementation of projects over the 

upcoming budget year (2013-2014) and make the necessary adjustments over the six-year planning 

horizon.  

 

The Planning Commission is requested to review the documents and provide input and comments.  

The CIP will come forward to the Planning Commission with the 2012 Comprehensive Plan 

amendments for a public hearing at the October 23, 2012 meeting. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2012-2018 Capital Improvements Plan (document attached separate from the PC agenda 

packet) 

 

 
 

81




